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STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in denying summary

judgment for Appellants on grounds that there was no genuine issue

of material fact in dispute and Appellees were entitled to summary

judgment as a matter of law?

PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs-Appellants Leland Hester and his wife JoAnn Hester

commenced the instant action by filing a complaint against

Defendant-Appellee Hubert Vester Ford, Inc. (HVF), file number 12

CVS 402 in the General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division,

Bladen County, Judicial District 13A, on or about 13 May 2011, and

the Clerk of Superior Court issued the summons the same day. R2-

8. Appellants sought damages for violation of the North Carolina

Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices Act (UDAP), NCGS § 75-1.1,

and the North Carolina Motor Vehicle Act (MVA), NCGS § 20-288(e),

as well as for common law extortion. R6-7. Plaintiffs amended

their complaint on 19 September 2012 to add Larry McPhail as

Defendant and to add a count for common law fraud. R11-21.

Leland Hester died on 16 May 2013, R387, and the trial court

substituted JoAnn Hester as personal representative of his estate.

T1, R611-14. After further discovery, both sides cross-moved for

summary judgment. R367-86, 395-610. At the 26 August 2013 hearing

thereon, the trial court orally denied Plaintiffs’ summary

judgment motion and allowed Defendants’ summary judgment on all
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counts, T65, and filed the signed order on 11 September 2013.

R615-16. Appellants filed and served notice of appeal on 16

September 2013. R617-18. The record on appeal was filed on 25

February 2014 and docketed 26 February 2014. R1.

STATEMENT OF GROUNDS FOR APPELLATE REVIEW

“Appeal lies of right directly to the Court of Appeals ...

From any final judgment of a superior court[.]” NCGS § 7A-27(a).

Appellees did not object to jurisdiction over their persons,

sufficiency of process or of service of process, or venue.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

“All facts asserted by the adverse party are taken as true,

and their inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to

that party.” Dobson v. Harris, 352 N.C. 77, 83, 530 S.E.2d 829,

835 (2000) (citations omitted). As both sides moved for summary

judgment, both sides will be presented. T[page] refers to the 26

August 2013 transcript; R[page] refers to the Record on Appeal.

Early September 2009: Jeep Sale Completed, Say Plaintiffs

Plaintiffs-Appellants Leland and JoAnn Hester were husband

and wife until his untimely passing on 16 May 2013. R387. “End

of August, beginning of September [2009,]” R148, their 20-year-

old son Ryan Hester, then an E-4 intel specialist in the U.S. Army,

saw an advertisement (Mrs. Hester said it came in the mail and she

gave it to him, R250; “It had to have been in August.” R252) from

Defendant-Appellee Hubert Vester Ford, Inc. (HVF) asking $22,000
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for a used 2007 Jeep Wrangler. R147-48.

He called HVF straightaway, where Melvin Scott, whom he would

meet the next day, took his financial information to estimate a

payment, R148-49, and “told me over the phone he thought three or

four hundred.” R164. Had the estimated payment been $614, “I

probably would--I would have said no[.]” R169. “I asked him how

much it was. He said 2200 (twenty-two hundred) [sic]. And I said,

what do you think my payment is going to be. And he said, probably

around three or four hundred (3-400).” R169, 594. However, Mr.

Scott said he would need a cosigner. R253. He passed the phone

to his mother, who knew he really wanted a Jeep and was willing to

lend a hand--“What parent wouldn’t?”--to her son, a veteran of

Operation Iraqi Freedom. R336. “He took my mom’s social, date of

birth, address and said we’re pre-approved.” R168-69.

After Ryan got home from work the next evening, mother and

son drove her 1993 Mercury Marquis to HVF’s premises in Clinton

“in the beginning of the week [31 August 2009 was a Monday], middle

of the week. It wasn’t the end of the week, because I drove--I

know I drove the Jeep to work that--the day--the next day I had

it.” R149. Mrs. Hester agreed. “And that was the first part of

September ... or the end of August?” “Yes.” R322-23.

It was already dark, but keeping the dealership open late

just for them were, Ryan and Mrs. Hester testified, salesman Melvin

Scott and Defendant-Appellee “Mr. [Larry] McPhail. He was there.
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There were only two of them there.” R150, 169-70. Mr. McPhail

was then the general manager of HVF. R370. “He had the Jeep

sitting right out front for me. I took it for a test drive while

they looked at my mom’s Mercury[.]” R151.

The test drive went well, so Ryan decided to buy the Jeep.

R151, 255-56. To obtain credit, they presented Mrs. Hester’s bank

statement, indicating a balance of perhaps $200, and Ryan’s LES

from the Army showing that he took home $1,200 every two weeks.

R158, 253, 255, 257, 594. “Did you do any title--any type of

credit application?” “I did not fill out anything for credit.”

“Were you told your credit was approved?” “Yes, sir.” R151.

Mr. McPhail on behalf of HVF offered, and they accepted, Jeep

VIN1JGA39107L156485 for a base price of about $22,000, trade value

of $1,000 for Mrs. Hester’s Mercury, and payments of “three hundred

to three-fifty. It was in that price range. ... I believe it was

three-forty-three (343), if I’m correct on that.” R264, 592, 594.

Ryan: “The whole contract was in my name and my mother’s

name.” R152. “I signed my name on what I thought was the contract

and couple of other, you know, financing paper works ... and then

my mom started doing the title change over.” R171. Mrs. Hester:

“I went into Mr. McPhail’s office and had to sign over the title

to the Mercury and everything, because we had to sign it twice.”

R263-64. “Did you all sign any paperwork at that time while you

were there on the purchase of the Jeep?” “Yes, Ryan and I did.”
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“And what did you sign at that time?” “The contract--I call it a

contract paper.” R261. “Did you sign more than one document on

that day?” “I do not remember signing any more.” R263.

No copy of this contract survives. “My mom kept it all, kept

them all. ... my mom kept all the paperwork.” R152. Mrs. Hester

in turn might have put it in the Jeep, whereupon Ryan “probably

threw it out.” R265. As the Jeep was not yet paid for, neither

Hester got a title to it. R153. Mr. McPhail “put my tag on the

Jeep. And he said he would call and get the insurance switched.”

R322. The whole process took “an hour and a half.” R154.

Labor Day to October 2009: Witnesses See Ryan and the Jeep

After bringing it home, Ryan drove the Jeep to work at Fort

Bragg where many people saw it. “God, everybody on base. My whole

unit because I was giving everybody rides ... everybody was looking

at mine, because I had the only four door at the time.” R167.

Plaintiffs’ neighbor Ronald Walts’ daughter held a Labor Day 2009

cookout at which Ryan arrived in a red (Flame Red to be precise,

R544) Jeep, “which we all looked at.” R439. Ryan specifically

recalled showing Mr. and Mrs. Walts the Jeep on that same occasion.

R167-68. So did Mrs. Hester. “Labor Day, we went there to our

friends that’s having a cookout, and we were in the Jeep.” R262.

24 September 2009: Defendants “Enhance” Mrs. Hester’s Credit

No credit application with Ryan’s name on it ever surfaced.

“I don’t know when or at what time the credit application was
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completed,” said Mr. McPhail, R87, and Defendants never produced

one, so Plaintiffs subpoenaed Marine Federal Credit Union, R440,

which responded with a credit application it received specifically

for Jeep VIN1JGA39107L156485 (the exact vehicle that Ryan had)

from “Branch: Hubert Vester Ford, Inc. Application Entered by Risk

Manager on 09/24/2009.” R441. Among its discrepancies were:

Mrs. Hester’s highest education was “a year and a half of

college and some trainings (sic) of nursing assistant.” R224.

She was married to Plaintiff Leland Hester, and their entire income

at the time was $1,031 per month in Social Security and disability,

of which about $842 was Mrs. Hester’s. R257-60, 317. That was in

real life; on the MFCU app, she became an unmarried retired high

school principal with a $714.59 mortgage payment and $2,858.37

monthly pension. R442. Pages later, her pension ballooned to

$3,800 and her house was paid off (“Owns Free and Clear”). R448.

“Loan officer spoke with customer – she said she retired in

1989. Her retirement is 2858 a month and she receives disability

of 1200.” R450. However, this note is dated 01 October 2009,

when Mrs. Hester was in UNC Hospital recovering from surgery the

day before and was not able to talk on her home phone, the only

phone number listed on the app. R460-61, 593. Had anyone asked

whether she were single, a retired principal, or received $2,858.37

a month, she “would have truthfully denied it.” R592. MFCU at

first gave “Appvoval [sic] with Stips,” R441, but being unable to
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confirm what Defendants told it (“Cannot use bank statements for

verification of income. Need retirement statement” R450; Mrs.

Hester testified to giving Defendants a bank statement),

ultimately declined the application on 07 October. R441, 450.

Q. [Paragraph] 30 [of the Amended Complaint], on

information and belief, Vester falsified Plaintiffs

financial information to make them more credit worthy

because no sensible lender will approve a used car payment

sixty percent of a married couples combined income. That is

flatly denied. Would you stand by that?

A. Yes, Sir.

So, at first, said Mr. McPhail. R102. Defendants also claimed:

“Plaintiffs either signed the credit applications attesting to

their truthfulness, confirmed the contents of the credit

applications to the creditors by phone, or both.” R558. In fact,

nobody signed the MFCU app at all, and as seen, Mrs. Hester was in

the hospital when MFCU said it called her. R460-61. Eventually,

Defendants admitted in open court: “They also have forecast

evidence with respect to the credit application that indicated

that Melvin Scott enhanced, use a polite word, the credit

worthiness of these particular plaintiffs. We are going to take

those as true, he puts some information in those credit apps that

inflated what they made on a monthly basis.” T31-32.

24 or 30 September 2009: Defendants Say They Bought the Jeep

“50. Defendant Vester purchased the vehicle of which

Plaintiffs complain from its previous owner on September 24, 2009.”

So said their Verified Answer, R27. Defendants provided no
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evidence of this until just before summary judgment, when a single

page from a purported sales log appeared without supporting oath.

R551. But on the title application, Michelle Dismukes certified

that previous owner Danny Lee personally appeared before her and

transferred the Jeep exactly on 30 September 2009. R511, 540.

28 September 2009: Jeep and MFCU Are On Mrs. Hester’s Policy

Johnny Tatum, Plaintiffs’ insurance agent and custodian of

their Travelers Insurance records, testified that as of 28

September 2009 the Jeep was covered under Mrs. Hester’s policy and

that MFCU was the loss payee, which does not happen until after a

customer takes delivery of a vehicle. R596-99. Mrs. Hester agreed

that these were her correct insurance documents. R309-12, 356-

57. Mrs. Hester said that “Vester Ford Company” had put in for

that change. R311. When asked how she knew that: “Because I

didn’t call.” R322. “We would contact the license agent on behalf

of the customer” if asked, said Mr. McPhail. R98-99. “[C]an you

actually buy insurance on a vehicle before you purchase it?” “I,

that’s an insurance question. I don’t know.” 31:14-16. “Your

testimony was that there was just one contract and it was with the

Ford Motor Credit Company?” “Sure.” “How did this [MFCU as

designated loss payee] get on there then?” “I don’t know.” R125.

Mrs. Hester specifically denied going to any car dealers in

the last half of September or the first half of October, indeed

going much of anywhere except to arrange for surgery, because her
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health had declined to where her life was in danger. R593.

30 September 2009: Plaintiffs Are in Sampson County Signing

Jeep Purchase Documents Before a Notary, Defendants Say

Paragraph 51 of Defendants’ Verified Answer: “Plaintiffs

purchased the vehicle from Vester on [not about] September 30,

2009[.]” R27. “And your testimony is that the vehicle is not

sold until September 30th of ’09, correct?” “That’s what--yes,

Sir, that’s what I’m--that’s the date of the contract, yes, Sir.”

R124. No defense witnesses could confirm the date of sale “other

than Mr. Scott. And his whereabouts is unknown.” R118.

Defendants claimed that “title transferred September 30,

2009.” T46. And that “title to that Mercury was signed over on

October 1st[.]” T64. “[T]he only transaction between the parties

is memorialized in a Retail Installment Contract executed by the

Plaintiffs and dated September 30, 2009.” R42, 43. So read, under

oath, at least three answers to Plaintiffs’ Requests for Admissions

served 31 December 2012. R46. But Mr. McPhail as of January 2013,

R69, was not familiar with Plaintiffs’ handwriting, and could not

recall whether he was present when they signed. R108.

By May 2013, Mr. McPhail was again willing to swear: “That

the contract and all of the documents in Exhibit 2 [the purported

sales documents, R373-85] bear the signature of the Plaintiffs.

... and the same is true of my own knowledge.” R370, 371.

In yet another affidavit dated 15 August 2013: “I have no



COA14-233 Appellant’s Brief page 10

personal recollection of having met the Plaintiffs in this matter

and did not negotiate the sale of the vehicle here at issue.”

R491. But notary Michelle Dismukes certified that Mr. McPhail and

Plaintiffs all personally signed a dealer’s reassignment of title

in Sampson County on 30 September 2009. R538. He did not deny

that Mrs. Hester and Ryan may well have left with the Jeep “prior

to the closing of the transaction for a variety of legitimate

purposes.” R491. It was also “possible” for a customer to be

turned loose with a car only to be denied credit later. R93-94.

30 September 2009: Plaintiffs Were In Chapel Hill, Not Signing

Papers in Sampson Co., They (and UNC Hospital Records) Say

Before dawn on 30 September 2009, Leland Hester got in the

Jeep’s back seat, JoAnn Hester got in the front passenger seat,

and Ryan Hester drove them all to Chapel Hill. R593-94. Ryan

specifically remembered that “I drove her up there in the Jeep.

And came--drove my dad back in the Jeep. And she stayed up there

for a couple of days.” R173-74. All day 30 September, Mrs. Hester

was in surgery or recovery, and Mr. Hester and Ryan stayed with

her until evening. R593-95. She stayed at the hospital the next

day too, and did not come home until 02 October. R460-61.

As to Defendants’ purported sales documents, R377-85 and 501-

11 among others, dated 30 September 2009:

21. I had surgery that day and was in the hospital

continuously from 30 September to 02 October 2009.

22. The Full Discharge Summary from UNC Hospital is a true

and accurate record of the dates I was there and of the
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medical treatment I received.

23. I did not sign any vehicle purchase documents or car

titles on 30 September or 01 October 2009.

24. Although what looks like my signature may be on them, I

have not seen before this case started, and I did not sign,

any documents in Defendants’ Exhibits B, Buyers’ Guide; C,

Bill of Sale; D, Damage Disclosure Statement; E, Odometer

Disclosure Statement (and Leland’s name is misspelled

“Leeland” on that one, which he never would have done); F,

Certificate of Repossession; G, Certificate of Title; H,

Title Application; I, Reassignment of Title (Vester as

seller); or J, Reassignment of Title (Vester as purchaser).

R593. Long before executing that affidavit, in response to

Defendants’ Requests for Admissions asking them to “admit the

genuineness of you[r] signature on the ‘As-Is Warranty’

accompanying the aforementioned contract,” Plaintiffs answered

under oath on 30 November 2012: “DENIED. Plaintiffs never saw

that document. Their signatures were either forged or copied-and-

pasted onto the documents labeled ‘As Is--No Warranty.’” R65.

Mrs. Hester reiterated this in deposition when asked about the

“Buyers Guide As Is-No Warranty,” R364: “That’s our signature, but

I have not seen this.” R305. She would have, had it been posted

where it was supposed to be. “[W]hen he was looking at it, there

was no--to me these are supposed to be in a window.” R306. “But

I didn’t see this one, nor was it in the window.” R307.

When asked about the “Bill of Sale,” Mrs. Hester testified,

R303-04: “But that does look to be your signature?” “Yes.” “And

you don’t recall signing that?” “Nope, no Bill of Sale.”

“Agreement to Provide Insurance,” R351: “This [signature] is
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mine, but I did not see this [document].” R301.

“Notice to Cosigner,” R353: “That’s [Mr. Hester’s] writing,

but ... I don’t know if he seen that or not because I haven’t. As

a matter of fact, I don’t even remember seeing it when I cosigned

for Ryan in the first contract.” R301-02.

“Total Loss Protection Program,” R355: “Does that appear to

be your signature?” “What little bit I can see right here, yes.”

“Does it appear to be the signature of Mr. Hester?” “Yes.” R302-

03. (She did not say “I signed this document.”)

“Odometer Disclosure Statement,” R344: “That’s my signature.

That’s Leland’s signature. ... but I didn’t see this [document]

either.” (She did not say “I signed this document.”)

“Damage Disclosure Statement,” R363: “Yes, those are our

signatures.” “And does it have a date on that?” “September the

30th, 2009.” R304-05 (when she was in the hospital 90 miles away,

R460-61, 593). (She did not say “I signed this document.”)

“Title Application,” R366: “Does it appear to be y’all’s

signatures?” “Yes.” “Does it appear to be notarized?” “Yeah,

because here’s the stamp.” R307-08. It was dated 30 September

2009 in Sampson County, when Mr. and Mrs. Hester were 90 miles

away. R460-61, 593. (She did not say “I signed this document.”)

Mr. Hester was examined extensively as to eight documents

that seemed to show his signature, but firmly and repeatedly

testified to only signing one document one time, which would be
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the installment contract with a preprinted date.

Q. Do you recall any signing documents in regard to the

purchase of the vehicle?

A. No, just that one time when I got my driving license.

Q. Uh huh. And---

A. And that’s the only paper I signed.

Q. And that was at your house?

A. Yeah.

R193-94. He denied signing anything on 30 September 2009, when he

was with Mrs. Hester at UNC Hospital. R593-95. “How come all

them says 30? ... Well, the date I signed that paper at night time

is 10/6/2009, because that day I got my driving license.” R211.

Especially as to the “Odometer Disclosure Statement,” R231,

somewhat better copy at R383: “Does that appear to be your

signature?” “I don’t know, because whoever is writing my name

they doing a very good job of it. ... I didn’t sign but one paper.

I don’t see how my name got on so many papers.” R205. “What about

over here?” “That ain’t mine period. ... How come it got two E’s

there? [Next to the correctly printed “Leland” is a signature

misspelled “Leeland.”] It’s supposed to be L-E-L.” R205-06.

Mrs. Hester acknowledged, R299, her and Mr. Hester’s

signature on the installment contract, R348-49, but not the printed

date. “I signed the paper October the 6th [2009].” R300.

06 October 2009: Plaintiffs Tricked Into Signing Unaffordable

Contract, They Say

Still at home recovering on 06 October 2009, Mrs. Hester was

startled to receive a phone call from the same Mr. Scott of HVF
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who had sold them the Jeep. He “said that they were changing the

contract to the Ford Credit Company. And that I had to sign the

papers or they were going to repossess the Jeep.” R268. “I

remember now. The reason why Ryan was taken off [was] because of

his KIA. He already had one vehicle and that company did not want

to do the Jeep because he already had one.” R279. She recognized

that repossessions are embarrassing and damaging to credit. R315.

“And my mind just went haywire. And I said, okay, I will sign it.

Because everything was supposed to same, we were just going with

Ford Credit Company.” R270.

Mr. Scott told Mrs. Hester “it was the same thing. And me

like a trusting person believed.” R273. “Did not even know the

payments, because he told me it was going to be the same.

Everything was going to be the same.” R274. “[T]hey were going

to take his vehicle away from him. I did not want to see that

done. So, that’s why we signed it--the second one.” “And you

thought you were signing for the very same amount?” “Yes.” R276.

“I had surgery. I could not go there to sign those papers.”

R271. “So he come to the house. He got Leland. They come to

town. He got his driver’s license. He made a copy of them, come

back to the house, have Leland sign and had me sign. And I said,

where’s my copy of the contract. I’ll mail it to you.” R270.

Ryan concurred that “about a month, month and a half after I

had got the Jeep. ... the salesman came to--actually came to the
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house--to my mom’s house and had them sign the contract, took my

dad to the driver’s license place, got his driver’s license renewed

and paid for it, and did all the work right there at the home--at

my mom’s house--while she was still on the couch just gotten home

from the hospital.” R173-74.

She could not see this “same” contract “because when we signed

them papers, he was bent down in front of me.” R271. “[H]e

covered up about the top half of it.” R313. This contract appears

in the record at least six times, R32, 222, 348, 373-76, 464

(sharpest), 497, but the first time Mrs. Hester saw it was “[t]he

day I was served the summons.” R270. “How many documents did you

sign?” “One document. ... I signed it one, two, three, four times,

but this was the only paper I signed.” R272. Ryan did not sign

this one. R277, 464. “And how long did he let you see it [the

back of the contract]?” “Not very long because I signed it and he

closed the book and got up and talked a couple minutes and then

out the door he left.” R316.

Hitherto, Mr. Hester “didn’t really go with [Ryan] or nothing

like that. I don’t get involved in what he buys.” R181. “Only

time I remember is when the salesman came to the house and brought

me to town to get my driving license. And he paid for them because

I had no money.” R182. Mr. Hester’s 20-day certificate issued on

06 October 2009. R538. Mr. McPhail admitted that in dealer

records “the names have to match and you have to have--there has
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to be a valid driver’s license, and they can’t be expired.” R100.

Between 06 and 21 October 2009: Defendants Submit “Monkeyed”

Credit Application to FMCC, Exaggerating Plaintiffs’ Income

FMCC became the lienholder on 21 October 2009. R508. Mr.

McPhail swore that “the financing of the vehicle was obtained

through Ford Motor Credit Company.” R370. In response to subpoena

duces tecum, R462-63, and supported by affidavit, R609-10, FMCC

produced copies not only of the installment contract but also of

other sales documents and a credit application through RouteOne,

which Mr. McPhail explained is “a company [through which] we submit

credit application electronically to banks.” R113. As the MFCU

application had been, Defendants admitted that this one was

“enhanced, [to] use a polite word,” in that Mrs. Hester was still

supposed to be a retired high school principal, and her pension

had crept up from $3,800 to $3,880 monthly. R465.

Mr. Hester had roughly an eighth-grade education and enjoyed

a career as a construction painter and automotive bodyman until

becoming permanently disabled in the 1990s. R180-87, 212. But

FMCC was told that Mr. Hester had been retired for five years from

an unspecified career and awarded a pension of $2,150. R466. He

was correctly identified as Mrs. Hester’s husband, but now their

mortgage payment was $525, down from $714.59 on the MFCU app.

R442, 466. Mrs. Hester denied ever telling anybody any such

things, R592, and neither she nor Mr. Hester acknowledged signing
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the FMCC app, nor are their purported signatures dated or

notarized. R467. Defendants admitted in open court to “the fact

that somebody monkeyed around with the plaintiffs’ credit report,

made them more likely to get credit.” T41. This “monkeying” added

up to $6,130 a month when Plaintiffs really made $1,031, a $4,999

boost that got Plaintiffs $37,889.80 in debt, counting principal

and interest to be paid. R32, 222, 348, 373, 464, 497.

November 2009 to November 2011: Plaintiffs Learn the Truth,

Cannot Pay, Jeep Repossessed, Sued for Balance

About a month after Melvin Scott’s visit to their home, Mrs.

Hester learned for the first time what he had been covering up.

“What did you do when you found out that the payment was six

hundred and some dollars a month?” “I blew my stack. ... I called

the Ford Company. And I told them why was it so high that it was

supposed to been between three hundred and three-fifty (300-350).

... I said, you can’t lower it. And they told me no.” R282-84.

Ryan made at least a few payments, but by June 2010, neither

he nor his parents could afford $614 a month. R164. By then, the

Jeep had developed a steering problem known as the “death rattle,”

a jarring front axle vibration that sent Ryan off the road more

than once, and which defied all repair attempts. R159-61, 188-89.

FMCC peaceably repossessed the Jeep on 14 July 2010. R161.

In June 2011, FMCC served Plaintiffs with a lawsuit for the

deficiency balance remaining after the Jeep sold at auction. By
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way of answer to FMCC’s complaint, Plaintiffs filed a letter pro

se, which Mrs. Hester adopted under oath, R320, reading in part:

“As far as the contract you enclosed was the first time we had

seen it, because it was totally different than the first one I

signed. I had just returned from surgery in Chapel Hill when we

were told we had to sign another paper that was needed, stupid

part on us as it almost doubled the payment.” R471-72.

At the summary judgment hearing on 29 November 2011, R327,

Plaintiffs suffered a deficiency judgment in excess of $8,000.

R329. Plaintiffs happened to meet and retain undersigned counsel

right afterward, who got the judgment set aside and commenced the

instant action. R287-291, T28. Not until her deposition did Mrs.

Hester finally understand that she was free of FMCC. “So, they’re

not going to come get my stuff?” “No, Ma’am.” R291.

ARGUMENT AS TO EACH ISSUE

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“We review a trial court's order granting or denying summary

judgment de novo. Builders Mut. Ins. Co. v. N. Main Constr., Ltd.,

361 N.C. 85, 88, 637 S.E.2d 528, 530 (2006) (citation omitted).

Summary judgment is appropriate ‘if the pleadings, depositions,

answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with

the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to

any material fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as

a matter of law.’ N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (2011).” Variety
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Wholesalers, Inc. v. Salem Logistics Traffic Svcs., LLC, 365 N.C.

520, 523, 723 S.E.2d 744, 747 (2012).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING DEFENDANTS’ AND DENYING

PLAINTIFFS’ SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTIONS.

Count I: Unfair and Deceptive Acts or Practices

“Unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and

unfair or deceptive acts or practices [UDAP] in or affecting

commerce, are declared unlawful.” NCGS § 75-1.1(a). “In order to

establish a prima facie claim for unfair trade [sic; the statute

never mentions “trade”] practices, a plaintiff must show: (1)

defendant committed an unfair or deceptive act or practice, (2)

the action in question was in or affecting commerce, and (3) the

act proximately caused injury to the plaintiff.” Dalton v. Camp,

353 N.C. 647, 656, 548 S.E.2d 704, 711 (2001). Defendants’ actions

were nothing but commercial, so element (2) is not in doubt.

Neither is element (3). Defendants did not seem to deny that

Plaintiffs suffered injury totaling $37,889.80 of unwanted

surprise debt, R32, 222, 348, 373, 464, 497, or at the very least

a deficiency judgment exceeding $8,000. R329. Tripling is

mandatory per NCGS § 75-16, not discretionary, entitling them to

$113,669.40. See Bhatti v. Buckland, 328 N.C. 240, 400 S.E.2d 440

(1991). That Plaintiffs by sheer fortuity were able to get the

judgment vacated does not relieve Defendants at all. “A tort-

feasor should not be permitted to reduce his own liability for



COA14-233 Appellant’s Brief page 20

damages by the amount of compensation the injured party receives

from an independent source.” Fisher v. Thompson, 50 N.C.App. 724,

731, 275 S.E.2d 507, 513 (1981). This collateral source rule, see

Muscatell v. Muscatell, 145 N.C.App. 198, 201, 550 S.E.2d 836,

837-38 (2001), applies to negligent and intentional torts.

Proving proximate cause is no problem. “For the authorities

agree that an intended result, however improbable, is always

proximate.” PROXIMATE CAUSE. INTENDED CONSEQUENCES. SUICIDE INDUCED BY

THREATENING LETTERS. Harvard L.R., Vol. 27, No. 4 (Feb. 1914) at 394.

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 442B (1965):

Where the negligent conduct of the actor creates

or increases the risk of a particular harm and is a

substantial factor in causing that harm, the fact

that the harm is brought about through the

intervention of another force does not relieve the

actor of liability, except where the harm is

intentionally caused by a third person and is not

within the scope of the risk created by the actor's

conduct.

Comment b, at p. 470:

This is to say that any harm which is in itself

foreseeable, as to which the actor has created or increased

the recognizable risk, is always "proximate," no matter how it

is brought about, except where there is * * * intentionally

tortious or criminal intervention, and it is not within the

scope of the risk created by the original negligent conduct.

Watz v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 431 F.2d 100, 117 (5th Cir. 1970).

Here, Defendants deliberately fabricated employment and income for

Plaintiffs, R440-51, 462-70, without Plaintiffs’ knowledge or

consent, R592-93, which “was not done to help the Hesters, it was

done to help Hubert Vester Ford make a sale.” T61. Defendants’
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scheme worked exactly as designed, and they cannot now disown it.

Mr. McPhail argued that he himself had no liability because

he had no involvement with Plaintiffs’ purchase other than the

“administrative act” of signing off on the 30 September 2009

contract. T34-35. But without his signature, none of this would

have happened. Also, Mrs. Hester and Ryan both testified that

they dealt with Mr. McPhail personally and told him their financial

situation, R150, 158, 253, 255, 257, 594, but he signed the deal

that doomed Plaintiffs to payments 60% of their gross income. Mr.

McPhail furthermore signed title applications falsely certifying

that he and Plaintiffs were all personally present in Sampson

County on 30 September 2009, R539, when in fact Plaintiffs were at

UNC Hospital in Orange County. R460-61, R593. Without these

falsehoods, the deal could not have been done.

A. Fabricating Credit Information to Inflict Unpayable Debt

on Customers is Unfair and Deceptive

Even if somehow a jury were to believe Defendants’ account of

only one contract signed near 30 September 2009, Defendants

properly conceded, T31-32, 41, that they “enhanced,” “inflated,”

and “monkeyed” Plaintiffs’ income to get them into debt. “It is

well settled that ordinarily the admission of attorneys bind their

clients. ‘Admission of attorneys bind their clients in all matters

relating to the progress and trial of the cause, and are in general

conclusive.’ 1 GREENLEAF ON EVIDENCE, 186; Lumber Co. v. Lumber Co.,
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137 N.C. 431, 438, 49 S.E. 946, 949 (1905); Bank v. Penland, 206

N.C. 323, 173 S.E. 345 (1934).” Reynolds v. Reynolds, 208 N.C.

578, 607, 182 S.E. 341, 358 (1935).

“[A] trade practice is unfair if it ‘is immoral, unethical,

oppressive, unscrupulous, or substantially injurious to

consumers.’ Furthermore, a trade practice is deceptive if it ‘has

the capacity or tendency to deceive.’ To prevail on this claim,

deliberate acts of deceit or bad faith do not have to be shown.

Instead, plaintiffs must demonstrate that the act ‘possessed the

tendency or capacity to mislead, or created the likelihood of

deception.'" Boyd v. Drum, 129 N.C. App. 586, 593, 501 S.E.2d 91,

97 (1998) (internal citations omitted). It should go without

saying that Defendants’ fabrications met this standard many times

over, as well as violated public policy. “We have also stated

that a practice is unfair when it offends established public

policy. Marshall v. Miller, 302 N.C. 539, 276 S.E.2d 397 (1981).”

Stanley v. Moore, 339 N.C. 717, 723-24, 454 S.E.2d 225, 228 (1995).

Mrs. Hester testified repeatedly that Mr. Scott neither gave

her nor mailed her a copy of the contract she signed. R270, 316.

Defendants thereby violated the public policy of NCGS § 20-303(b),

which requires a dealer to deliver a copy of the contract at or

about the time of sale. Defendants’ “enhanced” credit applications

obtained property by false pretenses from Plaintiffs and FMCC, see

NCGS § 14-100, and were bank fraud on federally-insured MFCU, see
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18 U.S.C. § 1344, which are very much against public policy. The

trial court’s judgment must be reversed with directions to enter

judgment for Plaintiffs in the amount of $113,669.40.

B. Unless Dealers Comply With Statutes, Yo-Yo Sales Are UDAP

Defendants derided their early September 2009 contract with

Mrs. Hester and Ryan as the “mythical contract,” T20, 46, or

“phantom agreement,” R559, since a copy did not survive. But

Plaintiffs and their witnesses, R439, are unanimous that somebody

sold Ryan that Jeep on some terms before Labor Day 2009.

The interest rate and number of payments to have been made

under that contract seem not to have come up in deposition

testimony. In their affidavits, Mrs. Hester and Ryan said the

term was either 60 or 72 months. R592, 594. Calculations show

that payments on a 72-month loan for $22,000 base price less $1,000

trade allowance plus tax and tags would be $345 at 2.99%, R600,

and $387 at 6.99%, R603. If the base price had been $23,995, the

payment could have been as low as $393 at 2.99%. R606. In their

Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs recalled at most a $350 payment for

60 months on “a principal amount of about $23,000” less $1,000

trade, or “about” $22,000 net. R15. At zero interest, multiplying

$350/months by 60 months yields $21,000 principal, which can

reasonably be described as “about $22,000” net of trade value.

Any reader will have seen “0% financing” car dealer ads.

Defendants in their verified answer “Denied” that paragraph,
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R24, and later would make much of it. In his affidavit of May

2013, Mr. McPhail swore: “That I am not aware of any contract for

the financing of the Jeep in question for $343 per month for a

period of 72 months, nor am I aware of a contract for financing of

the Jeep in question ‘for a principal amount of about $23,000.00,

paid in installments of about $320 per month ... for 60 months,’

as alleged by the Plaintiffs in the Amended Complaint[.]” In his

August 2013 affidavit: “I did not, and I would not have approved

any contract for sale of the subject vehicle for $23,000 with

repayment terms of $320 or $350 per month for 60 months[.]” R491.

But Mrs. Hester and Ryan testified that he did exactly so, although

the term may have been 72 months, R592, 594, and he did not deny

that he would have approved a 72-month term at $350 to $399. Being

a car dealer does not alter Defendants’ legal capacity to agree to

a straight sale on credit without a conditional delivery agreement,

and if no lender took it, then Defendants were stuck with it.

Ten months after answering (with which the trial court was

unimpressed: “Motion for an extension to modify the pleadings is

denied.” T62), Defendants attempted to plead UCC statute of

frauds, NCGS § 25-2-201(1), to invalidate the early September

contract. But Ryan and Mrs. Hester received and accepted the Jeep

in return for promise of payments, negating any need for writing.

“A contract which does not satisfy the requirements of subsection

(1) is enforceable ... (c) with respect to goods for which payment
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has been made and accepted or which have been received and

accepted.” NCGS § 25-2-201(3). “Pursuant to G.S. 25-2-201(3)(c),

this delivery and acceptance of the goods made the agreement

between the parties enforceable since the Statute of Frauds applies

only to executory and not to executed contracts.” Dealers

Specialties, Inc. v. Neighborhood Housing Svcs., Inc., 54 N.C.App.

46, 54, 283 S.E.2d 155, 160 (1981).

Defendants insisted that the second contract, which Melvin

Scott brought to Plaintiffs’ house and induced them to sign by

assuring them that it was the same and physically preventing them

from reading it, superseded any first contract on grounds that

fraud is not a factor under the UCC. Not so: “Unless displaced by

the particular provisions of this Chapter, the principles of law

and equity, including ... fraud, misrepresentation, duress,

coercion, ... and other validating or invalidating cause

supplement its provisions.” NCGS § 25-1-103(b). From of old, the

rule has been: “Furthermore, it is said in Newbern v. Newbern, 178

N.C. 3, 4, 100 S.E. 77, 78 (1919), 'The mere fact that a grantor

who can read and write signs a deed does not necessarily conclude

him from showing, as between himself and the grantee, that he was

induced to sign by fraud on the part of the grantee, or that he

was deceived and thrown off his guard by the grantee's false

statements and assurances, designedly made at the time and relied

on by him.' [Taylor v. Edmunds, 176 N.C. 325, 328, 97 S.E. 42, 43
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(1918).]” Isley v. Brown, 253 N.C. 791, 793-94, 117 S.E.2d 821,

823-24 (1961).

As to what date the sale occurred if not in early September

2009, Defendants’ testimony varied as the case progressed, and

often disagreed with their own records. Their Verified Answer

held that the Jeep entered their inventory on 24 September 2009,

R27; in records provided ten months later, the previous owner’s

notarized signature certified that the date was exactly 30

September 2009. R511, 540. “Plaintiffs purchased the vehicle

from Vester on September 30, 2009,” R27, without explaining how

its VIN appeared on the MFCU credit app six days before, R441;

later, Mr. McPhail admitted that Ryan could have left with the

Jeep before then and that dates on paperwork are often fudged.

R93-94, 491. At some times, Mr. McPhail could authenticate

Plaintiffs’ signatures “of my own knowledge,” R370, 371; at others,

he could not recall even meeting them. R491. He denied personal

involvement with the sale, R491, but he signed a title application

certifying that he and Plaintiffs were all in the same place on 30

September 2009. R539. Defendants could not explain how Mrs.

Hester was able on 01 October 2009 (when she was in the hospital,

R460-61) to “verify” income and employment, R450, or the insurance

changes on 28 September, including MFCU as loss payee, or

contradict (indeed, they confirmed it with Mr. Hester’s driver

license date, R538) Plaintiffs’ and Ryan’s consistent account of
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Mr. Scott’s visit to their house on 06 October 2009.

“This Court has previously held that the violation of a

statute designed to protect the consuming public may constitute an

unfair and deceptive practice, even where the statute itself does

not provide for a private right of action.” Stanley v. Moore, 339

N.C. 717, 723, 454 S.E.2d 225, 228 (1995). In addition to § 20-

75.1, Defendants suborned misconduct from notary Michelle

Dismukes. “I certify that the following person(s) personally

appeared before me this day, each acknowledging to me that he or

she voluntarily signed the foregoing document for the purpose

stated therein and in the capacity indicated JOANN LAMBERT

HESTER/LELAND LEE HESTER.” R468, 531, 539. All this means is:

“In the absence of evidence of fraud on the part of the notary, or

evidence of a knowing and deliberate violation of this Article by

the notary, the courts shall grant a presumption of regularity to

notarial acts so that those acts may be upheld, provided that there

has been substantial compliance with the law.” NCGS § 10B-99.

But Plaintiffs were in Orange County that day, R460-61; and

two days before, the Jeep was on Mrs. Hester’s insurance, R455-

59; and six days before, Defendants submitted the MFCU credit

application for that exact Jeep, VIN1JGA39107L156485, R441, 444,

rebutting any presumption that Plaintiffs and Mr. McPhail signed

it on 30 September. A notary commits a Class 1 misdemeanor if she

“[t]akes an acknowledgement or administers an oath or affirmation
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without the principal appearing in person before the notary[,]”

NCGS § 10B-60(c)(1), and a Class I felony “if the notary does so

with the intent to commit fraud.” § 10B-60(d)(1).

Defendants deliberately switched Mrs. Hester’s insurance

coverage from her Mercury to the Jeep no later than 28 September,

more than a week before Mr. Hester signed the installment contract

on 06 October. R455-59, 596-99. This was yet another statutory

violation. NCGS § 20-75.1 requires: “Liability, collision, and

comprehensive insurance on a vehicle sold and delivered

conditioned on the purchaser obtaining financing for the purchaser

of the vehicle shall be covered by the dealer's insurance policy

until such financing is finally approved and execution of the

manufacturer's certificate of origin or execution of the

certificate of title.” Defendants did not do that. Furthermore,

Defendants’ change of insurance on 28 September was Defendants’

certification that credit had been finalized the day before: “The

dealer shall notify the insurance agency servicing the purchaser's

insurance policy or the purchaser's insurer of the purchase on the

day of, or if the insurance agency or insurer is not open for

business, on the next business day following approval of the

purchaser's financing and execution of the manufacturer's

certificate of origin or the certificate of title.” By switching

the Jeep’s insurance, Defendants certified that financing had been

approved, and bound themselves to whatever contract Mrs. Hester
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and Ryan signed in early September 2009.

From the foregoing, any reasonable juror could reconstruct

the real timeline: After unwisely letting Ryan and Mrs. Hester

leave with the Jeep before finding a lender to take the

unprofitable deal off their hands, and after realizing that MFCU

was not going to fall for their fraud, Defendants simply falsified

and misdated papers as necessary to make the sale look like it had

happened on 30 September 2009, the end of the month and of the

third quarter, when any car dealer is feeling the pressure to meet

sales goals. Then they sent Mr. Scott to extort Plaintiffs’

signatures on the installment agreement, used the exemplars to

forge more signatures on sales documents and the FMCC credit app

(“How come all them says 30?” R211; “[W]hoever is writing my name

they doing a very good job of it. ... I didn’t sign but one paper.”

R205), changed the title on 21 October, R508, and cashed FMCC’s

check, leaving it and Plaintiffs to take the inevitable fall.

Count II: North Carolina Motor Vehicle Act

“Any purchaser of a motor vehicle ... who shall have suffered

any loss or damage by ... any other act of a license holder subject

to this subsection that constitutes a violation of this Article

[12] or Article 15 of this Chapter shall have the right to

institute an action to recover against the license holder and the

surety.” NCGS § 20-288(e) (in pertinent part). “The practice of

fraud by an automobile dealer upon a purchaser is a violation of
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article 12. ... Under NCGS § 20-288(e), the damages allowable are

those that are ‘suffered.’ [here $37,889.80]” Tomlinson v. Camel

City Motors, 330 N.C. 76, 79, 80, 408 S.E.2d 853, 855 (1991).

Representing that a deal was not approved when it was, to induce

a purchaser to agree to (concealed) different terms much harsher

than the original bargain, is most definitely statutory fraud. So

is falsifying credit applications. Defendants further violated

NCGS § 20-75.1 by not executing a separate CDA and by transferring

insurance coverage to the customer before final approval of credit.

Plaintiffs are entitled to actual damages of $37,889.80.

Count III: Extortion

Extortion is a recognized tort in North Carolina common law.

It is also known as duress, but that is of no import. “The question

for the court is whether, as a matter of law, the allegations of

the complaint, treated as true, are sufficient to state a claim

upon which relief may be granted under some legal theory, whether

properly labeled or not.” Harris v. NCNB Nat’l Bank, 85 N.C.App.

669, 670, 355 S.E.2d 838, 840 (1987). What was extorted from

Plaintiffs was not the Jeep, but their signatures on a contract

that bound them to pay far more debt than they ever agreed

willingly to, resulting in a sale and revenue to Defendants. T54-

55. When a bondsman threatened a teenager with arrest if the

bondsman did not receive more than what was rightfully due, and

the teen paid him under such fear, the trial court nonsuited his
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extortion claim for actual and punitive damages in error. “The

evidence is not without its inferences that the defendant caused

the plaintiff to pay him $52.00 under fear of arrest and

imprisonment; an amount much in excess of the fine and costs ...

It should have been submitted to the jury.” Hightower v. Thompson,

231 N.C. 491, 494, 57 S.E.2d 763, 765 (1950).

Violent threats are unnecessary; threat of wrongful

humiliation or economic harm will do, even for conviction under

NCGS § 14-118.4. See Tryco Trucking Co. v. Belk Store Svcs., Inc.,

608 F.Supp. 812, 816-17 (W.D.N.C. 1985) (wrongful withholding of

payment for a just and owing debt); State v. Greenspan, 92 N.C.App.

563, 566-67, 374 S.E.2d 884, 886 (1989) (demanding money for not

taking out arrest warrants for alleged crimes).

Even if extortion is not yet a recognized tort, it must become

one. If Plaintiffs’ remedy for property taken with consent

obtained by threat of harm or humiliation falls between the two

stools of fraud (if deception is absent) and conversion (if consent

is present), then in the gap must lie extortion or duress, under

whatever name. Anything less would be a violation of the Open

Courts Clause, whereby “every person for an injury done him in his

lands, goods, person, or reputation shall have remedy by due course

of law; and right and justice shall be administered without favor,

denial, or delay.” N.C. Const. Art. 1 § 18. From New Jersey:

The torts process, like the law itself, is a human institution
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designed to accomplish certain social objectives. One

objective is to ensure that innocent victims have avenues of

legal redress, absent a contrary, overriding public policy.

This reflects the overarching purpose of tort law: that wronged

persons should be compensated for their injuries and that those

responsible for the wrong should bear the cost of their

tortious conduct.

People Express Airlines v. Consol. R. Corp., 100 N.J. 246, 254-

55, 495 A.2d 107, 111 (1985) (cites omitted). This count must be

remanded with instructions to enter judgment in Plaintiffs’ favor

for $37,889.80 actual damages and for trial on punitive damages.

Count IV: Fraud

“While fraud has no all-embracing definition and is better

left undefined lest crafty men find a way of committing fraud which

avoids the definition, the following essential elements of

actionable fraud are well established: (1) False representation or

concealment of a material fact, (2) reasonably calculated to

deceive, (3) made with intent to deceive (4) which does in fact

deceive, (5) resulting in damage to the injured party.” Ragsdale

v. Kennedy, 286 N.C. 130, 138, 209 S.E. 2d 494, 500 (1974).

Proximate cause is folded into element (5). Elements (2), (3),

and (4) do not require that the deceived person be the same person

as the injured party, thus covering “crafty man” Mr. McPhail’s

false certifications on title documents and admittedly “monkeyed”

credit apps that fooled FMCC into writing Defendants a $25,877.85

check, as well as Mr. Scott’s misrepresenting on 06 October 2009

that the first deal was not binding and that Plaintiffs “had to”
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18 § 1344. Bank fraud

Whoever knowingly executes, or attempts to execute, a scheme or artifice--
(1) to defraud a financial institution; or
(2) to obtain any of the moneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, or other property owned by,

or under the custody or control of, a financial institution, by means of false or fraudulent
pretenses, representations, or promises;

shall be fined not more than $ 1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

HISTORY:

(Added Oct. 12, 1984, P.L. 98-473, Title II, Ch XI, Part G, § 1108(a), 98 Stat. 2147; Aug. 9,
1989, P.L. 101-73, Title IX, Subtitle F, § 961(k), 103 Stat. 500; Nov. 29, 1990, P.L. 101-647,
Title XXV, Subtitle A, § 2504(j), 104 Stat. 4861.)
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Part 8. Enforcement, Sanctions, and Remedies.

§ 10B-60. Enforcement and penalties.

(a) The Secretary may issue a warning to a notary or restrict, suspend, or revoke a notarial
commission for a violation of this Chapter and on any ground for which an application for a
commission may be denied under this Chapter. Any period of restriction, suspension, or revocation
shall not extend the expiration date of a commission.

(b) Except as otherwise permitted by law, a person who commits any of the following acts
is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor:

(1) Holding one's self out to the public as a notary if the person does not have a
commission.

(2) Performing a notarial act if the person's commission has expired or been
suspended or restricted.

(3) Performing a notarial act before the person had taken the oath of office.
(c) A notary shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor if the notary does any of the

following:
(1) Takes an acknowledgment or administers an oath or affirmation without the

principal appearing in person before the notary.
(2) Takes a verification or proof without the subscribing witness appearing in

person before the notary.
(3) Takes an acknowledgment or administers an oath or affirmation without

personal knowledge or satisfactory evidence of the identity of the principal.
(4) Takes a verification or proof without personal knowledge or satisfactory

evidence of the identity of the subscribing witness.
(d) A notary shall be guilty of a Class I felony if the notary does any of the following:

(1) Takes an acknowledgment or a verification or a proof, or administers an oath
or affirmation if the notary knows it is false or fraudulent.

(2) Takes an acknowledgment or administers an oath or affirmation without the
principal appearing in person before the notary if the notary does so with the
intent to commit fraud.

(3) Takes a verification or proof without the subscribing witness appearing in
person before the notary if the notary does so with the intent to commit fraud.

(e) It is a Class I felony for any person to perform notarial acts in this State with the
knowledge that the person is not commissioned under this Chapter.

(f) Any person who without authority obtains, uses, conceals, defaces, or destroys the seal
or notarial records of a notary is guilty of a Class I felony.

(g) For purposes of enforcing this Chapter and Article 34 of Chapter 66 of the General
Statutes, the following provisions are applicable:

(1) Law enforcement agents of the Department of the Secretary of State have
statewide jurisdiction and have all of the powers and authority of law
enforcement officers. The agents have the authority to assist local law
enforcement agencies in their investigations and to initiate and carry out, on
their own or in coordination with local law enforcement agencies,
investigations of violations.
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(2) Any party to a transaction requiring a notarial certificate for verification and
any attorney licensed in this State who is involved in such a transaction in any
capacity, whether or not the attorney is representing one of the parties to the
transaction, may execute an affidavit and file it with the Secretary of State,
setting forth the actions which the affiant alleges constitute violations. Upon
receipt of the affidavit, law enforcement agents of the Department shall initiate
and carry out, on their own or in coordination with local law enforcement
agencies, investigations of violations.

(h) Resignation or expiration of a notarial commission does not terminate or preclude an
investigation into a notary's conduct by the Secretary, who may pursue the investigation to a
conclusion, whereupon it may be a matter of public record whether or not the finding would have
been grounds for disciplinary action.

(i) The Secretary may seek injunctive relief against any person who violates the provisions
of this Chapter. Nothing in this Chapter diminishes the authority of the North Carolina State Bar.

(j) Any person who knowingly solicits, coerces, or in any material way influences a notary
to commit official misconduct, is guilty as an aider and abettor and is subject to the same level of
punishment as the notary.

(k) The sanctions and remedies of this Chapter supplement other sanctions and remedies
provided by law, including, but not limited to, forgery and aiding and abetting.

(l) The Secretary shall notify the North Carolina State Bar (State Bar) of any final decision
finding a violation of subsection (a) of this section by a notary who is also an attorney-at-law
licensed under Chapter 84 of the General Statutes. The Secretary shall endeavor to provide a copy
of any court order rendered under subsection (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), or (j) of this section to the State
Bar in cases where the notary is an attorney-at-law licensed under Chapter 84 of the General
Statutes. Any referral by the Secretary to the State Bar under this subsection shall be considered a
showing of professional unfitness under G.S. 84-28(d), and the State Bar shall administer
discipline accordingly. (1991, c. 683, s. 2; 1993, c. 539, ss. 6-8, 1121; 1994 Ex. Sess., c. 24, s.
14(c); 1995, c. 226, s. 4; 2001-450, s. 3; 2005-391, s. 4; 2006-59, s. 23; 2013-204, s. 1.4; 2013-387,
s. 5.)
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§ 10B-99. Presumption of regularity.

(a) In the absence of evidence of fraud on the part of the notary, or evidence of a knowing
and deliberate violation of this Article by the notary, the courts shall grant a presumption of
regularity to notarial acts so that those acts may be upheld, provided there has been substantial
compliance with the law. Nothing in this Chapter modifies or repeals the common law doctrine of
substantial compliance in effect on November 30, 2005.
(b) A notarial act shall be deemed valid if it complies with the law as it existed on or before
December 1, 2005. This section applies to notarial acts whenever performed. (2006-59, s. 24;
2006-199, s. 4; 2013-204, s. 1.10.)
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§ 14-100. Obtaining property by false pretenses.

(a) If any person shall knowingly and designedly by means of any kind of false pretense
whatsoever, whether the false pretense is of a past or subsisting fact or of a future fulfillment or
event, obtain or attempt to obtain from any person within this State any money, goods, property,
services, chose in action, or other thing of value with intent to cheat or defraud any person of such
money, goods, property, services, chose in action or other thing of value, such person shall be
guilty of a felony: Provided, that if, on the trial of anyone indicted for such crime, it shall be proved
that he obtained the property in such manner as to amount to larceny or embezzlement, the jury
shall have submitted to them such other felony proved; and no person tried for such felony shall
be liable to be afterwards prosecuted for larceny or embezzlement upon the same facts: Provided,
further, that it shall be sufficient in any indictment for obtaining or attempting to obtain any such
money, goods, property, services, chose in action, or other thing of value by false pretenses to
allege that the party accused did the act with intent to defraud, without alleging an intent to defraud
any particular person, and without alleging any ownership of the money, goods, property, services,
chose in action or other thing of value; and upon the trial of any such indictment, it shall not be
necessary to prove either an intent to defraud any particular person or that the person to whom the
false pretense was made was the person defrauded, but it shall be sufficient to allege and prove
that the party accused made the false pretense charged with an intent to defraud. If the value of the
money, goods, property, services, chose in action, or other thing of value is one hundred thousand
dollars ($100,000) or more, a violation of this section is a Class C felony. If the value of the money,
goods, property, services, chose in action, or other thing of value is less than one hundred thousand
dollars ($100,000), a violation of this section is a Class H felony.

(b) Evidence of nonfulfillment of a contract obligation standing alone shall not establish
the essential element of intent to defraud.

(c) For purposes of this section, "person" means person, association, consortium,
corporation, body politic, partnership, or other group, entity, or organization. (33 Hen. VIII, c. 1,
ss. 1, 2; 30 Geo. II, c. 24, s. 1; 1811, c. 814, s. 2, P.R.; R.C., c. 34, s. 67; Code, s. 1025; Rev., s.
3432; C.S., s. 4277; 1975, c. 783; 1979, c. 760, s. 5; 1979, 2nd Sess., c. 1316, s. 47; 1981, c. 63, s.
1; c. 179, s. 14; 1997-443, s. 19.25(l).)
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§ 20-75.1. Conditional delivery of motor vehicles.

Notwithstanding G.S. 20-52.1, 20-72, and 20-75, nothing contained in those sections prohibits
a dealer from entering into a contract with any purchaser for the sale of a vehicle and delivering
the vehicle to the purchaser under terms by which the dealer's obligation to execute the
manufacturer's certificate of origin or the certificate of title is conditioned on the purchaser
obtaining financing for the purchase of the vehicle. Liability, collision, and comprehensive
insurance on a vehicle sold and delivered conditioned on the purchaser obtaining financing for the
purchaser of the vehicle shall be covered by the dealer's insurance policy until such financing is
finally approved and execution of the manufacturer's certificate of origin or execution of the
certificate of title. Upon final approval and execution of the manufacturer's certificate of origin or
the certificate of title, and upon the purchaser having liability insurance on another vehicle, the
delivered vehicle shall be covered by the purchaser's insurance policy beginning at the time of
final financial approval and execution of the manufacturer's certificate of origin or the certificate
of title. The dealer shall notify the insurance agency servicing the purchaser's insurance policy or
the purchaser's insurer of the purchase on the day of, or if the insurance agency or insurer is not
open for business, on the next business day following approval of the purchaser's financing and
execution of the manufacturer's certificate of origin or the certificate of title. This subsection is in
addition to any other provisions of law or insurance policies and does not repeal or supersede those
provisions. (1993, c. 328, s. 1.)
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§ 20-288. Application for license; license requirements; expiration of license; bond.

(a) A new motor vehicle dealer, motor vehicle sales representative, manufacturer, factory
branch, factory representative, distributor, distributor branch, distributor representative, or
wholesaler may obtain a license by filing an application with the Division. An application must be
on a form provided by the Division and contain the information required by the Division. An
application for a license must be accompanied by the required fee and by an application for a dealer
license plate.

(a1) A used motor vehicle dealer may obtain a license by filing an application, as prescribed
in subsection (a) of this section, and providing the following:

(1) The required fee.
(2) Proof that the applicant, within the last 12 months, has completed a 12-hour

licensing course approved by the Division if the applicant is seeking an initial
license and a six-hour course approved by the Division if the applicant is
seeking a renewal license. The requirements of this subdivision do not apply to
a used motor vehicle dealer the primary business of which is the sale of salvage
vehicles on behalf of insurers or to a manufactured home dealer licensed under
G.S. 143-143.11 who complies with the continuing education requirements of
G.S. 143-143.11B. The requirement of this subdivision does not apply to
persons age 62 or older as of July 1, 2002, who are seeking a renewal license.
This subdivision also does not apply to an applicant who holds a license as a
new motor vehicle dealer as defined in G.S. 20-286(13) and operates from an
established showroom 20 miles or less from the established showroom for
which the applicant seeks a used motor vehicle dealer license. An applicant who
also holds a license as a new motor vehicle dealer may designate a
representative to complete the licensing course required by this subdivision.

(3) If the applicant is an individual, proof that the applicant is at least 18 years of
age and proof that all salespersons employed by the dealer are at least 18 years
of age.

(4) The application for a dealer license plate.
(b) The Division shall require in such application, or otherwise, information relating to

matters set forth in G.S. 20-294 as grounds for the refusing of licenses, and to other pertinent
matters commensurate with the safeguarding of the public interest, all of which shall be considered
by the Division in determining the fitness of the applicant to engage in the business for which he
seeks a license.

(b1) The Division shall require in such license application and each application for renewal
of license a certification that the applicant is familiar with the North Carolina Motor Vehicle
Dealers and Manufacturers Licensing Law and with other North Carolina laws governing the
conduct and operation of the business for which the license or license renewal is sought and that
the applicant shall comply with the provisions of these laws, with the provisions of Article 12 of
Chapter 20 of the General Statutes, and with other lawful regulations of the Division.

(c) All licenses that are granted shall be for a period of one year unless sooner revoked or
suspended. The Division shall vary the expiration dates of all licenses that are granted so that an
equal number of licenses expire at the end of each month, quarter, or other period consisting of
one or more months to coincide with G.S. 20-79(c).

(d) To obtain a license as a wholesaler, an applicant who intends to sell or distribute
self-propelled vehicles must have an established office in this State, and an applicant who intends
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to sell or distribute only trailers or semitrailers of more than 2,500 pounds unloaded weight must
have a place of business in this State where the records required under this Article are kept.

To obtain a license as a motor vehicle dealer, an applicant who intends to deal in self-propelled
vehicles must have an established salesroom in this State, and an applicant who intends to deal in
only trailers or semitrailers of more than 2,500 pounds unloaded weight must have a place of
business in this State where the records required under this Article are kept.

An applicant for a license as a manufacturer, a factory branch, a distributor, a distributor
branch, a wholesaler, or a motor vehicle dealer must have a separate license for each established
office, established salesroom, or other place of business in this State. An application for any of
these licenses shall include a list of the applicant's places of business in this State.

(e) Each applicant approved by the Division for license as a motor vehicle dealer,
manufacturer, factory branch, distributor, distributor branch, or wholesaler shall furnish a
corporate surety bond or cash bond or fixed value equivalent of the bond. The amount of the bond
for an applicant for a motor vehicle dealer's license is fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for one
established salesroom of the applicant and twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) for each of the
applicant's additional established salesrooms. The amount of the bond for other applicants required
to furnish a bond is fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for one place of business of the applicant and
twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) for each of the applicant's additional places of business.

A corporate surety bond shall be approved by the Commissioner as to form and shall be
conditioned that the obligor will faithfully conform to and abide by the provisions of this Article
and Article 15. A cash bond or fixed value equivalent thereof shall be approved by the
Commissioner as to form and terms of deposits as will secure the ultimate beneficiaries of the
bond; and such bond shall not be available for delivery to any person contrary to the rules of the
Commissioner. Any purchaser of a motor vehicle, including a motor vehicle dealer, who shall have
suffered any loss or damage by the failure of any license holder subject to this subsection to deliver
free and clear title to any vehicle purchased from a license holder or any other act of a license
holder subject to this subsection that constitutes a violation of this Article or Article 15 of this
Chapter shall have the right to institute an action to recover against the license holder and the
surety. Every license holder against whom an action is instituted shall notify the Commissioner of
the action within 10 days after served with process. Except as provided by G.S. 20-288(f) and (g),
a corporate surety bond shall remain in force and effect and may not be canceled by the surety
unless the bonded person stops engaging in business or the person's license is denied, suspended,
or revoked under G.S. 20-294. That cancellation may be had only upon 30 days' written notice to
the Commissioner and shall not affect any liability incurred or accrued prior to the termination of
such 30-day period. This subsection does not apply to a license holder who deals only in trailers
having an empty weight of 4,000 pounds or less. This subsection does not apply to manufacturers
of, or dealers in, mobile or manufactured homes who furnish a corporate surety bond, cash bond,
or fixed value equivalent thereof, pursuant to G.S. 143-143.12.

(f) A corporate surety bond furnished pursuant to this section or renewal thereof may also
be canceled by the surety prior to the next premium anniversary date without the prior written
consent of the license holder for the following reasons:

(1) Nonpayment of premium in accordance with the terms for issuance of the surety
bond; or

(2) An act or omission by the license holder or his representative that constitutes
substantial and material misrepresentation or nondisclosure of a material fact in
obtaining the surety bond or renewing the bond.
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Any cancellation permitted by this subsection is not effective unless written notice of cancellation
has been delivered or mailed to the license holder and to the Commissioner not less than 30 days
before the proposed effective date of cancellation. The notice must be given or mailed by certified
mail to the license holder at its last known address. The notice must state the reason for
cancellation. Cancellation for nonpayment of premium is not effective if the amount due is paid
before the effective date set forth in the notice of cancellation. Cancellation of the surety shall not
affect any liability incurred or accrued prior to the termination of the 30-day notice period.
(g) A corporate surety may refuse to renew a surety bond furnished pursuant to this section
by giving or mailing written notice of nonrenewal to the license holder and to the Commissioner
not less than 30 days prior to the premium anniversary date of the surety bond. The notice must
be given or mailed by certified mail to the license holder at its last known address. Nonrenewal
of the surety bond shall not affect any liability incurred or accrued prior to the premium
anniversary date of the surety bond. (1955, c. 1243, s. 4; 1975, c. 716, s. 5; 1977, c. 560, s. 2;
1979, c. 254; 1981, c. 952, s. 3; 1985, c. 262; 1991, c. 495, s. 1; c. 662, s. 3; 1993, c. 440, s. 3;
1997-429, s. 1; 2001-345, s. 2; 2001-492, s. 4; 2003-254, s. 2; 2004-167, s. 9; 2004-199, s. 59;
2005-99, s. 2; 2006-105, s. 2.3; 2006-191, s. 1; 2006-259, s. 12; 2011-290, ss.
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§ 20-303. Installment sales to be evidenced by written instrument; statement to be delivered

to buyer.

(a) Every retail installment sale shall be evidenced by one or more instruments in writing,
which shall contain all the agreements of the parties and shall be signed by the buyer.

(b) For every retail installment sale, prior to or about the time of the delivery of the motor
vehicle, the seller shall deliver to the buyer a written statement describing clearly the motor vehicle
sold to the buyer, the cash sale price thereof, the cash paid down by the buyer, the amount credited
the buyer for any trade-in and a description of the motor vehicle traded, the amount of the finance
charge, the amount of any other charge specifying its purpose, the net balance due from the buyer,
the terms of the payment of such net balance and a summary of any insurance protection to be
effected. The written statement shall be signed by the buyer. (1955, c. 1243, s. 19; 2007-513, s. 1.)
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§ 25-1-103. Construction of this Chapter to promote its purposes and policies; applicability

of supplemental principles of law.

(a) This Chapter shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying
purposes and policies, which are:

(1) To simplify, clarify, and modernize the law governing commercial transactions;
(2) To permit the continued expansion of commercial practices through custom,

usage, and agreement of the parties; and
(3) To make uniform the law among the various jurisdictions.

(b) Unless displaced by the particular provisions of this Chapter, the principles of law and
equity, including the law merchant and the law relative to capacity to contract, principal and agent,
estoppel, fraud, misrepresentation, duress, coercion, mistake, bankruptcy, and other validating or
invalidating cause supplement its provisions. (1917, c. 37, s. 56; C.S., s. 4039; 1941, c. 353, s. 18;
G.S., s. 55-98; 1955, c. 1371, s. 2; 1965, c. 700, s. 1; 2006-112, s. 1.)
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§ 25-2-201. Formal requirements; statute of frauds.

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this section a contract for the sale of goods for the
price of five hundred dollars ($500.00) or more is not enforceable by way of action or defense
unless there is some writing sufficient to indicate that a contract for sale has been made between
the parties and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought or by his authorized agent
or broker. A writing is not insufficient because it omits or incorrectly states a term agreed upon
but the contract is not enforceable under this paragraph beyond the quantity of goods shown in
such writing.

(2) Between merchants if within a reasonable time a writing in confirmation of the contract
and sufficient against the sender is received and the party receiving it has reason to know its
contents, it satisfies the requirements of subsection (1) against such party unless written notice of
objection to its contents is given within ten days after it is received.

(3) A contract which does not satisfy the requirements of subsection (1) but which is valid
in other respects is enforceable

(a) if the goods are to be specially manufactured for the buyer and are not suitable
for sale to others in the ordinary course of the seller's business and the seller,
before notice of repudiation is received and under circumstances which
reasonably indicate that the goods are for the buyer, has made either a
substantial beginning of their manufacture or commitments for their
procurement; or

(b) if the party against whom enforcement is sought admits in his pleading,
testimony or otherwise in court that a contract for sale was made, but the
contract is not enforceable under this provision beyond the quantity of goods
admitted; or

(c) with respect to goods for which payment has been made and accepted or which
have been received and accepted (G.S. 25-2-606). (1965, c. 700, s. 1.)
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§ 75-1.1. Methods of competition, acts and practices regulated; legislative policy.

(a) Unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts
or practices in or affecting commerce, are declared unlawful.

(b) For purposes of this section, "commerce" includes all business activities, however
denominated, but does not include professional services rendered by a member of a learned
profession.

(c) Nothing in this section shall apply to acts done by the publisher, owner, agent, or
employee of a newspaper, periodical or radio or television station, or other advertising medium in
the publication or dissemination of an advertisement, when the owner, agent or employee did not
have knowledge of the false, misleading or deceptive character of the advertisement and when the
newspaper, periodical or radio or television station, or other advertising medium did not have a
direct financial interest in the sale or distribution of the advertised product or service.

(d) Any party claiming to be exempt from the provisions of this section shall have the
burden of proof with respect to such claim. (1969, c. 833; 1977, c. 747, ss. 1, 2.)

§ 75-16. Civil action by person injured; treble damages.

If any person shall be injured or the business of any person, firm or corporation shall be broken
up, destroyed or injured by reason of any act or thing done by any other person, firm or corporation
in violation of the provisions of this Chapter, such person, firm or corporation so injured shall have
a right of action on account of such injury done, and if damages are assessed in such case judgment
shall be rendered in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant for treble the amount fixed by
the verdict. (1913, c. 41, s. 14; C.S., s. 2574; 1969, c. 833; 1977, c. 707.)

§ 75-16.1. Attorney fee.

In any suit instituted by a person who alleges that the defendant violated G.S. 75-1.1, the
presiding judge may, in his discretion, allow a reasonable attorney fee to the duly licensed attorney
representing the prevailing party, such attorney fee to be taxed as a part of the court costs and
payable by the losing party, upon a finding by the presiding judge that:

(1) The party charged with the violation has willfully engaged in the act or practice,
and there was an unwarranted refusal by such party to fully resolve the matter
which constitutes the basis of such suit; or

(2) The party instituting the action knew, or should have known, the action was
frivolous and malicious. (1973, c. 614, s. 1; 1983, c. 417, s. 2.)


